IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2006-KA-01706-SCT

FILED

CHARISE FORD

MAY 2 3 2007

APPELLANT

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

VERSUS

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE 1ST JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF ON THE MERITS BY APPELLANT

Appellant Seeks Oral Argument

OFFICE OF THE PUBLIC DEFENDER, HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI William R. LaBarre, MSB No. PUBLIC DEFENDER Virginia L. Watkins, MSB. No Assistant Public Defender Post Office Box 23029 Jackson, Mississippi 39225 Telephone: 601-948-2683 Facsimile:

601-948-2687

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. The Court acted improperly and violated the fundamental rights of equal protection and due process of law secured under both federal and state constitutions to Ms. Ford, a young mother of three with no prior criminal history, when it gave her an excessive sentence of seventeen (17) years;
- A. The sentence significantly exceeds other sentences this Court gave to similarly situated defendants during the October 2004 term of court;
- B. The sentence significantly exceeds other sentences handed down against similarly situated defendants in two other Mississippi jurisdictions, and
- C. The Court abused its discretion, as it failed to make sufficient on-the-record findings to support the severe sentence it handed down against Ms. Ford, particularly when considered with sentences handed down against similarly situated defendants at the same time;
- II. The Court erred when it accepted Instruction S-2 and S-3, an incorrect and confusing instruction on self-defense that placed a burden on Ms. Ford not authorized by Mississippi law and in violation of Ms. Ford's fundamental right to a fair trial and due process of law;
- III. The Court erred in denying Ms. Ford's request for a jury instruction on the lesser offense of simple assault and further erred in its failure to use the appropriate standard in evaluation of Ms. Ford's request for a jury instruction on simple assault;
- IV. The Court abused its discretion in permitting irrelevant, highly prejudicial and inflammatory testimony by Dr. Wafapor
- A. The Court erred in denial of the Motion in Limine by Ms. Ford prior to trial to bar testimony by Dr. Wafapoor regarding the extent of injury to Misty Gaddy, as such testimony was irrelevant to whether or not Ms. Ford committed aggravated assault; T. 31-32; RE 21-22
- B. Testimony on the extent of Misty Gaddy's injury was completely irrelevant to the charge against Ms. Ford, particularly since it was also testimony admitted in violation of the Court's own pre-trial order(s); T. 219;

- C. The Court abused its discretion in permitting the opinion testimony of Dr. Wafapor regarding whether particular objects could have caused injury to Misty Gaddy, not only because it was speculative and outside his area of expertise but also because the State failed to provide the opinion in pre-trial discovery to Ms. Ford; T. 242; 248-249; RE
- V. The Court abused its discretion in the admission of photographs of injury to Misty Gaddy in violation of the Mississippi Rules of Evidence and long-standing Mississippi case law;
- VI. The Court erred when it permitted admission into evidence of two photographs of hotel doors made more than a year after the incident occurred, thus misrepresenting substantive evidence to the jury;
- VII. The Court abused its discretion in denial of Ms. Ford's objections to highly prejudicial closing remarks by the prosecutor, and for improperly sustaining objections by the prosecutor to closing arguments by Ms. Ford, thus prejudicing her case before the jury in violation of her fundamental right to a fair trial, effective assistance of counsel and due process of law, and

VIII. The Court erred in denial of the Motion of Ms. Ford for a New Trial or alternatively, Judgment Non Obstante Verdicto (JNOV), as the verdict of the jury was contrary to law and against the overwhelming weight of the evidence.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS BELOW

Charise Ford was arrested and charged with aggravated assault in connection with the stabbing of Misty Gaddy on July 6, 2003. She was indicted for aggravated assault with a deadly weapon in violation of Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-7(2) (1972) by the September 2003 term of the Hinds County Grand Jury in Indictment No. 03-956. CP 4. Ms. Ford proceeded to trial and on Wednesday, September 15, 2004, she was found guilty and sentenced to seventeen (17) years. T. 439; 447; CP 41-43; RE 9-13. After denial of all post-trial motions, she took appeal of her conviction, which has been deflected to this Court. CP 137; 140; RE 14.

B. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Charise Ford was 23 on July 6, 2003. T. 311. She had a job at the Comfort Inn in South Jackson, she was working to complete her high school equivalency requirements, she was busy as a mother to her three young children. T. 454-455; 461-462. She had a fiancé, Purnell Stevenson, with whom she had a steady, seven-year relationship. T. 462. Charise Ford had never even garnered a parking ticket or traffic violation citation, much less any involvement with the criminal justice system. T. 455; 464.

On the morning of July 6, 2003, Ms. Ford was working at her job as breakfast hostess for the Comfort Inn. T. 312. Her position required her to keep the motel breakfast bar fully stocked during the morning hours and to clean the breakfast bar area, including the small front lobby, at its conclusion. T. 312. She was good at her job, so much so that manager Sonny Patel was training Ms. Ford for other work, including work in the laundry room and on the front desk. T. 341.

Misty Gaddy was 17 on July 6, 2003. T. 158. She, too, worked at Comfort Inn at the front desk in the small lobby of the motel. T. 158. Unlike Charise, a petite black woman, Gaddy, who

was white, was also larger. T. 161; 415. While the past relationship of the two women is unclear from the record, Ms. Ford testified that in the past, she had gone to get food and paid for it herself when Gaddy's job duties prevented her from leaving the front desk. T. 328. Whatever their past relationship, however, on the morning of July 6, 2003, it boiled over with tragic consequences for both Ms. Ford and Gaddy.

Upon mopping the front lobby area, Ms. Ford testified she politely asked Gaddy to refrain from walking across the wet floor by taking the back entrance to which Gaddy replied that Ms. Ford should "shut up," that Ms. Ford "was not [Gaddy's] m----- f------g boss." T. 315. Ms. Ford called Gaddy a bitch, telephoned her boyfriend to come get her early hoping to avoid further confrontation with Gaddy then completed her mopping. T. 316; 317. Gaddy, by her own admission, heard Ms. Ford call Stevenson. T. 158;179.

Ms. Ford returned to the kitchen, the entrance to which was near the entrance to the laundry room and bathroom in a narrow hallway right off the front lobby to finish washing pans before Stevenson arrived. T. 316 Then Ms. Ford heard rather than saw Gaddy at the kitchen door, saying something to the effect that Gaddy "was fixing to go crazy on somebody's ass." T. 315. Ms. Ford was going to the kitchen door to watch for Stevenson's arrival, watching through the motel's glass exterior doors for Stevenson. T. 319. Gaddy blocked the door, so Ms. Ford returned to cleaning up. When Ms. Ford again approached the kitchen door to check for Stevenson, she testified that Gaddy screamed "Get out of my face" then grabbed Ms. Ford by the neck, choking and kicking. T. 319-320. Unable to free herself, Ms. Ford groped in her uniform pocket, found the steak knife she carried about to perform her work and stabbed once to free herself from Gaddy. T. 321-322. Ms. Ford testified she did not know where she stabbed Gaddy, but after standing still in shock for a moment, she threw the knife in a kitchen cabinet and left. T.

T. 322. She remained home all day, but went to the police station the following day when Det. Denson telephoned where she was arrested after giving her statement. T. 323.

Gaddy's testimony was predictably different. Gaddy admitted the verbal altercation earlier in the day, admitted she overhead Ms. Ford telephone someone for a ride home and admitted she did not have to go to the laundry room to seek her boss, as she had his cellular telephone number. T. 159; 160; Gaddy also acknowledged that she could have easily ignored Ms. Ford and returned to her work at the front desk, rather than standing the door to the laundry room, which was apparently adjacent to the kitchen door, giving out onto the lobby and front desk area. T. 185; 186; 189

Gaddy testified on direct examination that Ms. Ford came to the door of the kitchen as Gaddy stood in the dooway of the laundry room, talking to Willie O'Quinn. T. 160. Gaddy testified that Ms. Ford asked her "do you want to kick somebody's ass?" and that Gaddy then saw the knife and a physical altercation ensued in which Gaddy kicked and pushed until Ms. Ford stabbed her in the eye "that last time I kicked her." T. 161.

Willie O'Quinn, however, testified she never saw Gaddy come into the laundry room; that all she heard was "noise," but no distinguishable words. T. 206. At the noise, O'Quinn entered the lobby area from the laundry and saw Gaddy had been cut and Ms. Ford standing close to her with a knife in her hand. T. 207. O'Quinn said Ms. Ford threw the knife in a cabinet and ran out through the lobby to a waiting car. T. 207. And, O'Quinn testified on re-direct that from where she usually works in the laundry room, one can see the lobby and the front door. T. 213.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The sentence the trial court handed down against Ms. Ford upon conviction was excessive under both state and federal constitutions, as well as a denial of due process and equal protection of law under the 14th Amendment to the Constitution, because the trial court rejected her request for a pre-sentence investigation and sentenced her to seventeen (17) years. Ms. Ford, a 22-year-old black woman and mother of three, had never even had a parking ticket. T. 455. Ms. Ford contends her sentence is excessive when compared to sentences to other felons during the same term of court by the same judge for some arguably more egregious circumstances. Her sentence is also disproportional when compared with sentences in other jurisdictions. CP 55-136.

The trial court erred in the granting of instructions on self-defense prepared by the state, holding Ms. Ford to the same self-defense standard as one facing a charge of murder. Ms. Ford contends this is a denial of due process, as well as a structural error in the operation of the trial itself, requiring reversal and remand.

In addition, Ms. Ford claims serious prejudice from the erroneous admission into evidence of photographs of the motel exterior made the day before trial and purporting to show the jury what the doors looked like on the day of the incident, which occurred about midmorning. The reason this is important is because Ms. Ford claimed she kept returning to the kitchen door not to confront Gaddy but to watch for her ride home, a fact somewhat corroborated by O'Quinn's testimony that she could see the lobby and front door from her work station in the laundry room. The photographs essentially presented a false picture to the jury of how the doors looked that morning, and prejudiced Ms. Ford's fundamental right to mount a defense in her own behalf.

ARGUMENT

- I. The Court violated the fundamental rights of equal protection and due process of law secured under both federal and state constitutions to Ms. Ford, a young mother of three with no prior criminal history, when it gave her an excessive sentence of seventeen (17) years;
- A. The sentence significantly exceeds other sentences this Court gave to similarly situated defendants during the October 2004 term of court;
- B. The sentence significantly exceeds other sentences handed down against similarly situated defendants in two other Mississippi jurisdictions, and
- C. The Court abused its discretion, as it failed to make sufficient on-the-record findings to support the severe sentence it handed down against Ms. Ford, particularly when considered with sentences handed down against similarly situated defendants at the same time;

"As a general rule, a sentence that does not exceed the maximum period allowed by statute will not be disturbed on appeal." *Towner v. State*, 837 So.2d 221, 227 (Miss.Ct.App. 2003). Nevertheless, this Court has not hesitated to remand when the trial court imposed a disproportionate sentence, as Ms. Ford contends is the case here. Towner received thirty (30) years for cocaine sale as a first offender, without any additional findings in the record to justify such a harsh sentence. *Id.* "A court's proportionality analysis [of a sentence] under the Eighth Amendment should be guided by objective criteria, including (i) the gravity of the offense and the harshness of the penalty; (ii) the sentences imposed on other criminals in the same jurisdiction; and (iii) the sentences imposed for commission of the same crime in other jurisdictions." *Id., at 227, citing Solem v. Helm,* 463 U.S. 277, 291 103 S.Ct. 3001, (1983) (writ of habeas corpus).

Following the Solem analysis as did the Towner Court, no one will attempt to denigrate the offense of aggravated assault or what Ms. Gaddy endures. The offense, however, though grave, still failed to merit the sentence the trial court meted out, particularly when compared with

the sentences received by others charged with aggravated assault during the October 2004 term of court in the 7th Circuit District. Ms. Ford demonstrated as much in her *Amended and Supplemental Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict or, in the alternative, a New Trial*, which also contains certified sentencing orders from the cases cited in request for a new trial. CP 55-135.

In particular, Ms. Ford would call the attention of the Court to the incorporated sentencing hearing transcript for Cedric Stewart, who entered an open plea of guilty to aggravated assault in the ambush shooting of Calvin Buchanan. CP 66-95. Stewart, who was represented by privately retained counsel, armed himself with a nine millimeter handgun, lay in wait with his brother Ray Stewart to ambush Calvin Buchanan. Cedric Stewart fired at Buchanan in the buttocks with a shot that exited through his penis. CP 81. Buchanan's injury is irreparable. Stewart fired his weapon in a neighborhood street crowded with people, including children. CP 88. Buchanan was unarmed. CP 88.

Although the trial court refused to order a sentencing hearing for Ms. Ford, despite requests to do so by defense counsel (T. 446), the court apparently *sua sponte* ordered a presentence investigation report for Stewart, after which Cedric Stewart received a sentence of fourteen (14) years, and his brother sixteen (16) years. CP 56. In *Stapleton v. State*, 790 So.2d 897 (Miss. Ct.App. 2001), the Court of Appeals reversed Derrick Stapleton's thirty (30) year sentence for participation in a drive-by shooting that left a Jackson police officer seriously wounded, in part due to the trial court's refusal to accede to the request for the pre-sentencing report. *Id.*, at 902. "Because of the lack of a presentencing report, we are unaware if there might be matters in the defendant's background that suggested the imposition of the maximum sentence." *Id.* The Court of Appeals cited this Court's decision in *Davis v. State*, 724 So.2d 342, 344 (Miss. 1998) for its authority in ordering remand for sentencing when the maximum was

imposed without a pre-sentence report. The maximum sentence was not imposed in this case; nevertheless, it was far greater than some sentences handed down by this same Court for circumstances just as egregious if not more so.

Mississippi courts still resort to the three-pronged analysis when the issue of excessive sentences arises. *Towner*, *supra*. Once a showing of gross disproportionality been shown between the gravity of the offense and the sentence, the analysis proceeds to the second and third prongs: Comparison of the penalty with sentence(s) imposed on other criminals in the *same* jurisdiction and sentences for same or similar crime in *other* jurisdictions. *Towner*, *supra*, at 227; *Solem*, *supra*, at 291. Ms. Ford addressed this issue in her *Amended and Supplemental Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict or, in the alternative, a New Trial* (CP 56; 58). [include charts here]

| Defendant | Cause No. | Sentence | To Serve |
|----------------------------|---------------------|----------|----------|
| Blocker, Judge Jr. | 04-0-010 | 5 yrs | 0 |
| Brown, Frederick L. | 04-0-812 | 7 yrs | 7 yrs |
| Chambers, Ronnie | 03-0-953 | 10 yrs | 3 yrs |
| Chapman, Patricia | 04-0-049 | 5 yrs | 1 |
| Collins, Terry Kavara* | 04-0-031-01 | 10 yrs | 10 |
| Davis, Ricky T. | 04-0-054-01 | 8 yrs | 3 yrs |
| FORD, CHARISE | 03-0-956 | 17 yrs | 17 yrs |
| Garrett, Justin | 03-0-012 | 10 yrs | 10 yrs |
| Hemphill, Freddie Lee III* | 03-0-444-01; 02; 03 | 20 | 20 yrs |
| Johnson, Mario | 04-0-822 | 20 yrs | 8 yrs |
| Kelly, Reddrick | 04-0-131 | 15 yrs | 5 yrs |
| Ledbetter, Mario | 04-0-258 | 7 yrs | 3 yrs |
| Lewis, Larry Joe Jr. | 04-0-260 | 20 yrs | 10 yrs |
| Liddell, David L. | 03-0-345 | 6 yrs | 6 yrs |
| Lindsey, Phillip | 03-0-331 | 8 yrs | 4 yrs |
| McCoy, Jamie | 03-0-963 | 15 yrs | 5 yrs |
| Moak, Gary Shane | 03-0-595 | 15 yrs | 5 yrs |
| Shields, Belinda | 03-0-792 | 15 yrs | 5 yrs |
| Simms, Robert D. | 04-0-266 | 15 yrs | 0 |
| Stewart, Cedric | 03-0-257 | 14 yrs | 14 yrs |
| Stewart, Ray | 03-0-258 | 16 yrs | 16 yrs |
| Turnage, Charles | 03-0-455 | 10 yrs | 10 yrs |
| Wilson, Oscar | 04-0-271-01/02 | 15 yrs | 8 yrs |
| Wilson, Quincy* | 04-0-369-03 | Remand | N/A |
| Young, Jerry | 04-0-272-01 | 15 yrs | 5 yrs |

- Freddie Hemphill III also pleaded guilty in 04-0-846-03 to shooting in an occupied dwelling in violation of Miss.
 Code Ann. § 97-25-47 (1972). His twenty-year sentence runs concurrent to the sentence for aggravated assault.
- Terry Kavara Collins pleaded guilty to aggravated assault with a gun and armed robbery. Collins received three (3) years for the armed robbery to be served concurrently with his aggravated assault sentence in Ct. 1.
- Quincy Wilson pleaded guilty to one count of Armed Robbery (04-0-369-03); Count 01 of aggravated assault with a
 gun was remanded to files in exchange for his plea of guilty to the charge of Armed Robbery in Count 03, along with
 charges of convicted felon in possession of a firearm and receipt of stolen goods.

| County | Name | Docket No. | Sentence | To Serve |
|--------------|--------------------------------|------------|-----------|-------------|
| Washington | | | | |
| | Emmett Lee Wright | 01-452 | 3 yrs | 3 yrs |
| | (Revocation) | | , , , , , | 5 710 |
| | Kenneth Brown | 03-228 | 10 yrs | 1 yr |
| | Clarence Pettis III | 04-138 | 7 yrs | 2 yrs |
| | Kelvin Lamar Sanders | 04-170 | 20 yrs | 20 yrs |
| | Kenny Charles Dillard | 04-191 | 10 yrs | 5 yrs |
| | Kenneth Louis Harper | 04-211 | 10 yrs | 5 yrs |
| Harrison | | | | |
| - | Jeffrey Penman (initial) | 95-474 | 10 yrs | 5 yrs |
| . | (Revocation) | | 10 yrs | 7 yrs |
| | Anthony Charles Bosarge Jr. | 98-297 | 8 yrs | 3 yrs |
| · | (initial | | 5 yrs | 5 yrs |
| | Vincent Lee Kittrell * | 97-427 | 7 yrs | 7 yrs |
| | (Revocation) | | | |
| | Joshua James Jerde (initial) | 01-166 | 7 yrs | 0 time |
| - | (Revocation) | | 7 yrs | 7 yrs |
| | Joseph D'Von Rayborn (initial) | 01-928 | 5 yrs | 5 yrs |
| | (Revocation) | | 5 yrs | 1 yr/1 mo |
| | (Revocation) | | 5 yrs | 5 yrs |

^{*} No information available on the initial sentence of Mr. Kittrell.

During the same term of court, Terry Kavara Collins pleaded guilty to armed robbery and aggravated assault with a gun; he received only a sentence of ten (10) years on the aggravated assault charge, to be served *concurrently* with his sentence for armed robbery. CP 98. And Robert D. Simms, sentenced to fifteen (15) years for aggravated assault with a gun, netted zero time to serve behind bars from the same judge who presided over the trial of Ms. Ford. CP 124. From other jurisdictions (Washington and Harrison counties) within the state of Mississippi, only one defendant, Kelvin Lamar Sanders, received the maximum sentence of twenty (20) years allowed under Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-7(2) (1972). T. 480. The Hon. William R. LaBarre, Hinds County Public Defender, represented Kelvin Sanders while serving as public defender for

Washington County and LaBarre referred to the prior criminal history of Mr. Sanders, who was also charged with armed robbery. T. 480.

In contrast, Ms. Ford was 22 at the time of the incident. She had no prior criminal record whatsoever. T. 455. Furthermore, her asserted defense was self-defense. Ms. Ford stabbed only once, although she certainly had the opportunity to do more. T. 320. She left her workplace as soon as the incident occurred, but telephoned and spoke with police shortly after her departure. T.322 Ms. Ford willingly went to the police station to speak with Det. Denson on July 7 as soon as Denson called her. T. 323.

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