#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**CHARISE FORD** 

**APPELLANT** 

**FILED** 

VS.

AUG 3 0 2007

OFFICE OF THE CLERK
SUPREME COURT
COURT OF APPEALS

NO. 2006-KA-1706

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

#### **BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE**

#### APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: DEIRDRE MCCRORY

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

#### **

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

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in imposing a 17-year sentence in this case.

Nor did the trial court err in granting Instructions S-2 and S-3.

Ford's third proposition is not properly before this Court. Alternatively, the state contends the trial court did not err in refusing to authorize the jury to find Ford guilty of simple assault.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in allowing the victim's treating physician to describe her injury.

Nor did the trial court abuse its discretion in admitting photographs of the victim's injury and the crime scene into evidence.

Ford's challenge to the trial court's rulings made during closing arguments is without merit.

Finally, the court did not err in overruling the motion for j.n.o.v./new trial.

#### **PROPOSITION ONE:**

### THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN IMPOSING A 17-YEAR SENTENCE IN THIS CASE

After the verdict was returned and the jury was discharged, defense counsel asked the court to order a pre-sentence investigation. Defense counsel expressed concern that the court had stated during a bench conference that it "already decided" to impose the maximum sentence. The state countered that there was "no need for a pre-sentencing report" because it was undisputed that the defendant had "no prior criminal history." The state went on to contest the suggestion that the court had indicated that it had already decided to impose the maximum sentence. Defense counsel disputed this assertion and reiterated his request for a presentence investigation. (T.440-44) Finally, the court made findings, set out in pertinent part below, before imposing sentence:

Mr. Fortner was not present when the Court made the remark relating to any sentencing, which Mr. Fortner knows in every case that this Judge has the the Judge always considers the maximum as a possible sentence in any case that is in trial in which the defendant is found guilty.

And, in fact, every time that there is a plea bargain agreement the Court advises the defendant who is pleading guilty to the crime that even though there may be a plea bargain agreement between the State and the defendant's counsel, it is not binding on the Judge; that the Judge may or may not accept the recommendation and could sentence the particular defendant to the maximum.

So this is always a possibility in any plea. It's always a possibility in any trial where a defendant is found guilty.

The Court naturally hears all the evidence and

observes all of the evidence and the injury inflicted on the victim. And, of course, ion this particular case it was a horrendous injury causing the victim to lose her sight in one eye, a very gruesome and brutal stabbing. And, of course, that is a major factor in what the Court would sentence the defendant to for that.

But as far as the bench conference, this Court never said that it was going to sentence this defendant to the maximum, if convicted ...

And, in fact, after the conference or second conference at the bench concerning this matter relating to what was said at the bench concerning the possibility of any case involving the maximum sentence, the Judge mentioned what had occurred after Ms. Mansell mentioned what occurred, and the Judge gave his statement of what he said, and the Court recalls Mr. Fortner saying, "That satisfies me," and then walked away.

The Court is aware of the fact of the family situation that the defendant has. The Court is aware—I mean as far as having children. The Court, of course, is aware of the victim's injury and the fact that it's permanent and the nature of it. The Court is aware of the circumstances surrounding this incident, and it's a tragic situation for both families and both parties involved.

So the Court really doesn't know why it would be necessary in this particular instance to have a presentence investigation based on what factors that the Court would consider.

As I say, it's a hard decision for any judge to decide what a particular sentence is going to be for a criminal defendant, but, yet, at the same time the Court has to do what it thinks is right as far as the nature of the crime committed.

And this is a horrible— one of the worst aggravated assaults this Court has presided over. There have been many others just as bad or worse, but

this is certainly one of them. And it's unthinkable that somebody would actually stab somebody else in the eye. So it was one of the worst injuries that could be inflicted on anyone is to be without an eye.

So the Court is not going to sentence the defendant to the maximum, which it could, and some would say that it would, and, of course, she will get the benefit of the 85 percent rule presumably, but the Court is going to based on the crime committed and the circumstances involved sentence her into the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections for 17 years. So that will be the sentence.

 $(T.444-47)^1$ 

Ford did not raise a proportionality claim during the sentencing hearing, but she did advance it during the hearing on her motion for j.n.o.v./new trial. (T.479-81) The state countered that the threshold inquiry in a *Solem v. Helm* analysis is whether "the punishment is excessive for the crime committed." 463 U.S. 277 (1983). The state went on to reiterate that the victim in this case had suffered a "very devastating injury," the loss of an eye; and that "the sentence was proper based upon the amount of the injury sustained by the victim." (T.482) In rejecting the defendant's argument, the court observed that this was an "[h]orrific case, ... [o]ne of the worst this Court has presided over ... It was one of the worst injuries that could be inflicted on anyone to be without an eye." The court then noted that it had "very broad discretion" in sentencing and that the sentence of 17 years, three

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The court had the discretion to order or to decline to order a presentence investigation. URCCC10.04(C)(1). The trial judge understandably declined to do so here, since he was already aware that the defendant had no prior criminal history and that she had young children.

years less than the maximum provided by statute, was appropriate. (T.492)

Ford now argues that analysis of the *Solem* factors demonstrates that her sentence is disproportionate. The state responds first that in light of *Harmelin v. Michigan*, 501 U.S. 957, 991-92 (1991), the three-prong analysis delineated in *Solem* applies *only* after "a threshold comparison of the crime committed to the sentence imposed leads to an inference of 'gross disproportionality.' ... Absent this initial showing, our appellate courts will not employ the three-prong Solem analysis. *Young v. State*, 731 So.2d 1120, 1125 (Miss.1999)." (emphasis added) *Williams v. State*, 784 So.2d 230, 237 (Miss.App.2000), quoting *Hoops v. State*, 681 So.2d 521, 538 (Miss.1996).

To determine whether Ford has made the requisite threshold showing, this Court must focus first "on the nature of the crime committed." *Williams*, 784 So.2d at 236. It is not an exaggeration to say that Ford committed act of violence, with a deadly weapon, which caused permanent, disabling, disfiguring and unimaginably painful injury. For this act she received a sentence—subject to the possibility of parole—of 17 years, three years short of the maximum.<sup>2</sup> The Legislature has codified its distaste for violent crimes, in part by authorizing trial courts to impose a maximum sentence of 20 years for aggravated assault, 3 and this Court has

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>In 17 years, possibly fewer, Ford will probably be free to resume her life. Misty Gaddy will never regain sight in her right eye.

consistently held that trial courts have the discretion to impose sentences within this statutory range. *Williams*, 784 So.2d at 237, citing *Green v. State*, 631 So.2d167, 176 (Miss.1994). The state submits Ford has failed to show that a comparison of the crime committed to the sentence imposed leads to an inference of disproportionality, much less gross disproportionality. Accordingly, she has failed to make the threshold showing which would have required analysis of the *Solem* factors.

Ford goes on to cite *Apprendi v. New Jersey*, 530 U.S. 466 (2000), and *Blakely v. Washington*, 542 U.S. 296 (2004), for the proposition that the trial court violated her right to due process by relying on its own findings of egregiousness in enhancing her sentence, without jury-made findings of such facts. A similar argument was analyzed and rejected in *Isom v. State*, 928 So.2d 840, 851 (Miss.App.2006). In *Isom*, the appellant had been convicted of burglary of a dwelling and sentenced to a term of 25 years with five years suspended. On appeal, he argued that the trial judge "relied on his own findings of aggravating factors, instead of a jury's findings, to enhance and justify" the long prison sentence. 928 So.2d at 849. The Court of Appeals rejected this argument with the following reasoning, which the state submits is applicable here:

Isom's reliance on *Apprendi* and *Blakely* is misplaced. Isom cites to *Apprendi* for the proposition that "[o]ther than the fact of a prior conviction, any fact that increases a penalty for a crime beyond the prescribed statutory maximum must be submitted to a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>The aggravated assault statute has withstood claims that the 20-year maximum violates the constitutional prohibition of cruel and unusual punishment. *Fleming v. State*, 604 So.2d 280, 302 (Miss.1992).

jury." Apprendi, 530 U.S. at 490, 120 S.Ct. 2348. The statute at issue in Apprendi had an enhancement sentence for hate crimes. The United States Supreme Court found that the jury was to determine if the sentence should be enhanced. Id.

We find that the statute applicable to Isom's crime of burglary of a dwelling is distinguishable from *Apprendi* and *Blakely*. Isom was found guilty by a jury pursuant to Miss.Code Ann. § 97-17-23 which has no sentence enhancement provision. In other words, there is no increased or enhanced punishment pursuant to Miss.Code Ann. § 97-17-23 upon a finding of aggravating factors.

928 So.2d at 851.

Likewise, MISS.CODE ANN. §97-3-7 has no sentence enhancement provision.

Ford's reliance on *Apprendi* and *Blakely* is misplaced. See *McNickles v. State*,

\_\_ So.2d \_\_\_ (Miss.App., decided May 22, 2007) (2007 WL1470475). Ford's first proposition should be denied.

#### **PROPOSITION TWO:**

### THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN GRANTING INSTRUCTIONS S-2 AND S-3

Ford contends additionally that the trial court committed reversible error in granting Instructions S-2 and S-3, set out below:

#### [INSTRUCTION S-2]

The Court instructs the Jury that to make an assault justifiable on the grounds of self-defense, the danger to the defendant must be either actual, present and urgent, or the defendant must have reasonable grounds to apprehend a design on the part of the victim to kill or to do her some great bodily harm, and in addition to this she must have reasonable grounds to apprehend that there is imminent danger of such design

being accomplished. It is for the jury to determine the reasonableness of the ground upon which the defendant acts.

(C.P.36)

#### [INSTRUCTION S-3]

The Court instructs the Jury that a person may not use more force than reasonably appears necessary to save her life or protect herself from great bodily harm. The question of whether she was justified in using the weapon is for determination for the jury.

The law tolerates no justification and accepts no excuse for an assault with a deadly weapon on a plea of self-defense except that the assault by the defendant on the victim was necessary or apparently so to protect the defendant's own life or her person from great bodily injury and there was immediate danger of such design being accomplished. The danger to life or great personal injury must be or reasonably appears to be imminent and present at the time the defendant commits the assault with a deadly weapon. The term "apparent" as used in "apparent danger" means such overt, actual demonstration by conduct and acts of a design to take life or do some great personal injury as would make the assault apparently necessary to self preservation.

(C.P.37)

When Instruction S-2 was tendered, the defense objected that "[i]t's not necessary in an assault case for the defendant to prove that they apprehended a design on the part of the victim to kill her." In support of his argument, defense

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>The state contends that the use of the conjunctive *or* in Instruction S-2 demonstrates that the defense of self-defense was available to the defendant even if she had reasonable grounds to apprehend a design on the part of the victim to do her great bodily injury, rather than kill her.

counsel cited *Simmons v. State*, 568 So.2d 1192 (Miss.1990). (T.353-54) The prosecutor countered that *Simmons* relied on *Robinson v. State*, which was overruled by *Flowers v. State*, 473 So.2d 164 (Miss. 1985). She went on to point out that *Montana v. State*, 822 So.2d 954, 958-60 (Miss.2002), was "the prevailing case law that we are supposed to use for self-defense." The court reserved ruling on the objection, and turned to Instruction S-3. (T.357-38)

The defense objected to that charge as well, contending that it placed "the burden on the defendant way beyond what it is supposed to be... " (T.359) The prosecutor responded that the language of S-3 comported with *Montana*. (T.360) Again, the court took the issue under advisement. (T.362)

After the overnight recess, the prosecutor submitted to the court a copy of the *Montana* opinion, asserting that "it has no negative history whatsover. It is still the prevailing law on self-defense." (T.370) The defense continued to attempt to distinguish *Montana* on the ground that it was a murder case, and asserted that in an aggravated assault case, the defense of self-defense was available to the defendant even if she apprehended only an design on the part of the victim to do her great bodily injury, rather than kill her. (T.373) The prosecutor countered as follows: "Now, Mr. Fortner is complaining about the fact that it says intent to kill, but he forgets to point out that it says or, o-r. So it's either—it's not an and. It's an or. Intent to kill or cause serious bodily injury."<sup>5</sup> (T.378)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>⁵</sup>Ford reiterates this objection in her brief. The state maintains that the use of the conjunctive *or* shows the fallacy of her argument.

The court found meritorious the prosecutor's citations of authority and ultimately granted Instructions S-2 and S-3. (T.382-83) There is not error in this ruling. The state refuted the defendant's objection on the ground that these instructions placed a "higher burden" on her,<sup>6</sup> and correctly pointed out that the instructions comported with the prevailing case law.

Ford also claims on appeal that Instruction S-3 was confusing. This ground was not raised below and may not be advanced for the first time here. *Killen v. State*, 958 So.2d 172, 186 (Miss.2007).

For these reasons, the state respectfully contends Ford's second proposition should be rejected.

#### **PROPOSITION THREE:**

# FORD'S THIRD PROPOSITION IS NOT PROPERLY BEFORE THIS COURT; IN THE ALTTERNATIVE, THE STATE CONTENDS THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO AUTHORIZE THE JURY TO FIND FORD GUILTY OF SIMPLE ASSAULT

Ford next challenges the trial court's refusal of Instruction D-1, a lesserincluded offense charge which would have authorized the jury to find her guilty of

He [defense counsel] has no case that has received positive treatment reiterating the instructions that he wants. He can't find one because the instructions that are given in aggravated assault cases or murder cases are the same.

(T.378)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>In addition to pointing out that the defendant's objection was cured by the use of the conjunctive *or*, the prosecutor argued as follows:

simple assault. Counsel for the state has scoured the Clerk's Papers submitted in this case and has been unable to locate Instruction D-1. The failure to include this instruction in the appellate record bars consideration of this issue on appeal. *Rogers v. State*, 796 So.2d 1022, 1029 (Miss.2001).

Solely in the alternative, the state submits the prosecution properly argued, and the trial court correctly found, that no evidentiary basis existed for this instruction. When the defense first stated its intention to submit a simple assault instruction,<sup>7</sup> the prosecution stated its position as follows, in pertinent part:

Your Honor, if we're going to give simple assault, there has to be some kind of reckless act. Nowhere in the testimony of the defendant or anywhere throughout this trial was there ever any kind of indication that her actions were reckless in any way, shape or form.

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